IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 28 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

79,//5
Case No. 78,882

[TFB No. 91,217 (10A)]

v.

CHARLES R. CHILTON

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

DAVID G. MCGUNEGLE
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 425-5424
Attorney No. 174919

And

KRISTEN M. JACKSON
Co-Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Tenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A" initially voted to find probable cause in The Florida Bar Case Number 91-30,250 (10A) an August 13, 1991 for violating Rules 4-3.3(a)(1), 4-3.3(a)(2), 4-3.4(b), 4-8.4(c), and 4-8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The respondent tendered an admission of minor misconduct on August 27, 1991 pursuant to Rule of Discipline 3-5.1(b)(5) with which the committee agreed. Board of Governors, however, disagreed with the minor misconduct recommendation when it considered the case at its November, 1991 meeting. The Bar filed complaints in this case, and in the companion case against Richard E. Bosse, on December 20, 1991. The respondent filed a motion for summary judgment on March 2, The Bosse case was tried on March 23 and 24, 1992. 1992. referee in Bosse recommended that Mr. Bosse be found not guilty.

The respondent's motion for summary judgment was heard on April 9, 1992. The referee issued an order granting the motion and recommending that the respondent be found not guilty, with which the Bar concurred, without ruling on the issue of costs or attorney's fees,

The Board of Governors voted to accept the referee's recommendation at its May, 1992 meeting.

The respondent filed motions for award of costs and attorney's fees in May, 1992. Both motions were heard on June 29, 1992. In his report dated August 26, 1992, the referee recommended an award of costs to the respondent but denied an award of attorney's fees and certified that issue to this Court.

The Board of Governors considered the report recommending costs be taxed against the Bar at its September, 1992 meeting and voted to appeal same.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar filed a complaint against the respondent based upon the initial finding of probable cause by the grievance committee without a "live" hearing pursuant to Rule 3-7.4(h). The respondent's counsel was permitted to be present and gave a thirty minute statement before the committee. The Bar's formal complaint alleged that the respondent, as intermediary and/or as an officer of the court, failed to advise the court of material information, i.e., that the adoptive parents had moved out of the state. A companion case against Richard E. Bosse was separately filed based on similar charges arising out of the same adoption proceeding.

The respondent filed a motion for summary judgment on March 2, 1992. Extensive discovery had been undertaken in the related Bosse case, including taking several witness depositions and expert witness statements, in which the respondent was permitted to participate in preparation for his own case. The Bosse case was tried before a referee on March 23 and 24, 1992 after a previous motion for summary judgment was denied. Both the respondent and his counsel were present at the Bosse final hearing. The referee recommended a not guilty finding only after the entire case was tried and all witnesses, including Mr. Bosse, had testified.

At the hearing on the respondent's motion for summary judgment on April 9, 1992 the referee in this case recommended the respondent be found not guilty which the Bar did not oppose. He based his recommendation on the not guilty finding in Bosse. The referee's order granting the respondent's motion for summary judgment reflected the referee's belief that the respondent had no legal or ethical duty to notify the trial judge of the adaptive parents' move out of state after filing the petition for adoption. The referee further found there was no genuine issue of material fact and there was an absence of justiciable issue of fact or law at the time he made his findings. The referee reserved ruling on the issue of costs (TR1, pp. 18-19; RR1, p.

The respondent filed motions to tax costs and attorney's fees against the Bar, The Bar and the respondent filed extensive memoranda of law as to the awardability of costs.

The Board of Governors reviewed this case at its May, 1992 meeting and voted not to appeal the referee's recommendation of not quilty and dismissal of the case.

A hearing on the issues concerning the awardability of costs and attorney's fees was held before the referee on June 29, 1992. The respondent argued, citing The Florida Bar v. Dennis, 589 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1991), that costs should be awarded to him because

he had been found not guilty and the Bar had in the past been assessed coats of the prevailing party. The respondent further relied on the fact that the referee in the companion Bosse case recommended assessing costs against the Bar. In addition, the respondent argued that cost awards to prevailing parties are recognized under Florida Statute Chapter 57 in routine circuit court cases (TR2, p. 21). The respondent argued that the Bar admitted there was no genuine issue of material fact by the time of final hearing given the Bosse outcome and concurred with the referee's order granting the motion for summary judgment (TR2, p. 22). further support for his position, the respondent presented a video deposition of expert witness Linda McIntyre and presented testimony of his legal counsel, Jack Brandon, arguing that the Bar had been advised "early on" that its case was weak (TR2, p. 37). The respondent faulted the Bar for not heeding Mr. Brandon's advice.

The **referee** recommended the assessment of costs, including the respondent's own investigative time, against the Bar stating that the bulk of the respondent's costs were incurred after the Basse trial (RR2, **pp.** 3-4). The referee denied an award of attorney's fees, having found no provision in the rules therefor, but certified to this Caurt the issue of whether attorney's fees in disciplinary cases are awardable (TR2, p. 103; RR2, p. 6).

The referee issued his report awarding costs to the respondent on August 26, 1992. The Board of Governors considered the recommendation of the referee at its September, 1992 meeting and voted to appeal same. The Bar filed its petition for review on the issue of costs on September 28, 1992.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The referee erred in recommending the Bar bear the respondent's costs, including his own charges to himself for time he spent "investigating" the matter, in this disciplinary proceeding. Neither the rules nor case law provide for the award of attorney's fees in Bar discipline cases regardless of which party prevails. This is a quasi-judicial administrative proceeding, not a civil action.

The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar do not authorize the payment of a respondent's costs in a disciplinary case. Rule of Discipline 3-7.6(k)(1)(E) specifically provides that **costs** taxed shall be payable to The Florida Ear. Although the discretionary approach, as opposed to the prevailing party approach, has long been used by this Court in awarding costs in Bar discipline cases, referees cannot award costs, even to the Bar, if those costs are not specifically enumerated in the rule. The Florida Bar v. Allen, 537 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1989). A referee's recommendation as to costs will be upheld, unless it is shown that there was an abuse of discretion. The Florida Bar v. Carr, 574 So. 2d **59** (Fla. 1990).

The existing case law in the area of a respondent's

entitlement to costs does little to shed light on the issue. It appears that it may be acceptable for a prevailing respondent to recover his costs if he can prove, by clear and convincing evidence, the Bar engaged in some type of prosecutorial misconduct, although the available case law is not in unanimous agreement on this position. More often, in those cases where cost awards have been mentioned, each party was ordered to bear its own costs where the respondent was found not guilty.

In the respondent's case, there was a question as to whether or not he owed a duty to the court to advise it of the adoptive parents' move out of state. The statutes are unclear in this respect. In addition to this legal issue, there were questions of fact with respect to when the respondent knew of the move in connection with filing the petition for adoption and the circumstances surrounding his meeting with Dr. Patsner on June 15, 1990. The companion case, The Florida Bar v. Bosse, Case No. 78,882, proceeded to final hearing before the respondent's case and, after hearing all of the testimony, the referee in Bosse, simply put, believed Mr. Bosse's version of the events rather than Dr. Patsner's version. It is not always possible to accurately gauge the demeanor of a witness prior to testifying. No doubt Dr. Patsner's hostile attitude damaged his overall credibility in the eyes of the referee in Bosse. However, this does not mean the Bar engaged in prosecutorial misconduct by bringing these proceedings.

With respect to awarding attorney's fees, in this case the respondent moved the referee to award him his fees pursuant to Florida Statutes Sections 57.105 and 57.111 (1991). The first statute provides for the award of fees to a prevailing party where there is an absence of justiciable issue of either law or fact at the outset. The second statute provides for the award of attorney's fees to a prevailing party in a state agency action. The Bar submits the separation of powers doctrine precludes recovery by either party under the Florida Statutes. recovery could be had, this action was not frivolous from its inception. The grievance committee found probable cause. not until the end of the final hearing in the Bosse case that it became apparent there was no basis to proceed further in this The respondent had already filed a motion for summary matter. judgment and the Bar concurred in the dismissal at the hearing on said motion.

In order for the Bar to begin paying the costs and attorney's **fees** of prevailing respondents, a restructuring of the grievance committee process would be necessary so that, in essence, the Bar's cases would be "pretried." The referee would assume more of an appellate function to review the committee's findings of fact and recommend the appropriate level of discipline. There could also be a serious impact on the Bar's budget. The funding crisis which could result, coupled with the significant increase in time each case would remain at the

grievance committee level, would be contrary to the goals of attorney discipline. It would protect neither the public nor the accused attorney. Many cases may never be pursued by the Bar because of the need to be able to unequivocally prove every case before filing the formal complaint. The increase in processing time such additional bureaucracy would create could adversely affect both the participants and the process.

ARGUMENT

I. THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR DO NOT ALLOW A COST ASSESSMENT AGAINST THE BAR IN A DISCIPLINARY MATTER.

In his report dated August 26, 1992, the referee recommended this Court give strong consideration to awarding the respondent all of his costs which total \$9,281.38. These costs include approximately \$385.75 in Federal Express charges, **\$168.50** of which were incurred after the referee granted the respondent's motion for summary judgment on April 9, 1992; a \$200 expert witness fee and a \$1,000 charge for review of documents by and conference with an expert witness; and \$107.33 for "mounting of display items" incurred on June 26, 1992, well after the Bar's case had been dismissed. In fact, a total of \$2,883.33 in costs was incurred by the respondent after the referee recommended dismissal. Additionally, Bar counsel advised the respondent's counsel at the conclusion of the final hearing in Bosse, on March 24, 1992, that he intended to seek permission from the Board of Governors to move for a dismissal in the respondent's case. Despite this, the respondent incurred \$314 in costs between April 7, 1992, and April 9, 1992, when the case was dismissed by the referee. This, combined with the \$2,883.33 incurred after the dismissal, totals \$3,197.33 in costs which the respondent incurred after the Bar advised him it would seek dismissal of its charges against him. It is noteworthy that the \$1,000 associated with expert witness Bennett S. Cohen's review of the file and conference with the respondent was, according to the respondent's affidavit of costs on page five of the Report of Referee, incurred on April 15, 1992, well after the case had been recommended for dismissal. While logic would indicate this cost was incurred prior to April 9, 1992 the timing is not at all clear from the respondent's statement of costs. The Bar cannot help but to question the validity of many of the respondent's costs, especially the aforementioned expert witness fee which, if truly incurred on April 15, 1992 is clearly inappropriate because there was no need to incur expert witness costs after the case In fact, it could be argued that many of the was dismissed. respondent's costs, especially those incurred after dismissal, were incurred with an eye toward obtaining a successful award against the Bar as retribution for the Bar having pursued the disciplinary charges.

The purpose of the Bar's disciplinary system is to protect the public when a lawyer's fitness is called into question and not to protect the attorney from laypersons who make complaints. One of the responsibilities of this profession, and in fact any profession, is conducting one's self and one's practice in a manner that does not give rise to the appearance of impropriety. The public has a right to file a grievance against an attorney. Stone v. Rosen, 348 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977). The Bar must examine each of these complaints and determine whether the allegations, if proven, would constitute a violation of the

See Rule of Discipline 3-7.3. Baseless complaints do not proceed beyond the grievance committee level because either the alleged conduct does not constitute a breach of the rules or the evidence does not appear to be clear and convincing. This case was not a baseless complaint, as evidenced by the grievance committee's determination that probable cause existed to proceed with the filing of a formal complaint. Further, this case also was reviewed by the Board of Governors after the respondent tendered an admission of minor misconduct and it too determined there was probable cause. The Bar cautions that although the respondent submitted an admission of minor misconduct, in no way should this be taken to mean he engaged in any misconduct. Sometimes accused attorneys make such tenders in hopes of avoiding further time consuming litigation. The Bar does not take issue with the referee's recommendation of not quilty.

Former Integration Rule 11.06(9)(a)(5) provided that a referee's report must contain a statement of costs of the proceedings and recommendations as to the manner in which they should be taxed, This rule was amended on May 24, 1979, to add that "[c]osts taxed shall be payable to The Florida Bar." See Petition of Supreme Court Special Committee, etc., 373 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 1979). In 1987, the Rules of Discipline were adopted by this Court and replaced the Integration Rule. Former Rule of Discipline 3-7.5(k)(1) was based upon former Integration Rule 11.06(9)(a). On April 20, 1989, Rule of Discipline 3-7.5(k)(1) was amended to read that a report of referee must include "a

of costs incurred by The Florida Bar statement and recommendations as to the manner in which such costs should be (Emphasis added). See The Florida Bar, 542 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1989). This rule has since been renumbered as 3-7.6(k)(1)although the above quoted language has remained the same. Under the former rules there was a certain degree of ambiguity as to how costs should be determined. The Bar submits the last amendment clarified this ambiguity. It now clearly states the only costs to be considered in Bar disciplinary proceedings are those incurred by the Bar. No provision has been made for the calculation and inclusion of a respondent's costs. This argument is further supported by the inclusion of administrative costs as an amount which must be included in a statement of costs. Strictly speaking, administrative costs are those miscellaneous Costs borne by the Bar in administering the disciplinary program and do not apply to respondents.

Prior to 1982, there was no clear procedure for awarding costs where the Bar did not prevail or prevailed as to only Some of the charges alleged. In instances where a respondent prevailed, the Bar could only locate three cases where the respondent was awarded his costs. It must be cautioned, however, that it is entirely possible more cases where a respondent was awarded costs could exist because research in this area is difficult due to the summary nature of the cases and the

failure of West Publishing to include many of these cases in its key number system. In The Florida Bar v. Matthews, 296 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1974), and The Florida Bar v. Johnson, 313 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1975), both respondents were found not guilty and the Bar was ordered to pay their costs. These cases occurred under former Integration Rule 11.06(9)(a). The third case, The Florida Bar v. Dennis, 589 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1991), occurred under Rule of Discipline 3-7.6(k)(1) shortly after its amendment. Mr. Dennis was found not guilty and the referee's recommendation that the Bar bear his costs was not timely appealed by the Bar. Because the Court's slip opinion and report of referee contain more information, they are included in the Appendix. None of these cases provided any quidance as to why the Court elected to award these respondents their costs. The cases appear to conflict with the rules and subsequent case law and therefore their psecedental value is questionable.

More recently, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Feinberg</u>, 583 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 1991), and <u>The Florida Bar v. Icardi</u>, 599 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1992), the Court upheld the referee's recommendation that each pasty bear its own costs where, in the former case, Ms. Feinberg was found not guilty, and in the latter case, the Bar voluntarily sought a dismissal of the charges against Mr. Icardi. Because both of these orders were issued without a detailed opinion, the respective reports of referee are included in the Appendix.

With The Florida Bar v. Davis, 419 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1982), this Court sought to clarify the award of costs in disciplinary proceedings where the Bar prevails as to only some of the charges. Mr. Davis was found quilty of some, but not all, of the charges against him. The referee recommended the Bar recover only one-third of the costs it incurred in prosecuting the case. This Court, in considering whether or not the Bar was entitled to recover its costs, noted that it did not follow a hard and fast rule with respect to assessing disciplinary costs. The Court observed that in civil actions costs were generally awarded to the prevailing party pursuant to Florida Statute Section 57.041. In equity actions, costs were generally awarded at the discretion of the court. This Court specifically found the discretionary approach should be used in disciplinary proceedings and thus rejected the provisions of Florida Statute Section 57.041. Court went on to note that a referee and the Court, in making the cost assessment, should be able to consider the fact that an attorney was acquitted on some charges or that the costs incurred by the Bar were unreasonable. In sum, the costs should be awarded as sound discretion indicates. No mention was made of awarding to an attorney any costs incurred in defending those charges of which the attorney was acquitted.

The discretionary approach was recently followed in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Wilson</u>, **599** So. 2d 100 (Fla, 1992), where upon appeal the Court found the evidence did not support the referee's

recommendation of guilt on some of the **charges.** The matter was remanded to the referee to recalculate the costs which should be assessed against Mr. Wilson in connection with the one charge of which he was found guilty. Again, no mention was made of awarding to him any costs he incurred in defending those charges of which he was not found guilty.

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