E COURT OF FLORIDA a Referee) 12-8 FILED SID J. WHITE VOV 25 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT
THE FLORIDA EAR,	By Chief Deputy Clerk
Complainant,	
v.	, Case No. 79,115 [TFB Case No. 91-30,250 (10A)]
CHARLES R. CHILTON,	
Respondent.	

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JACK P. BRANDON Peterson, Myers, Craig, Crews, Brandon & Puterbaugh, P.A. Post Office Box 1079 Lake Wales, Florida 33859 Telephone: (813) 676-7611 Facsimile: (813) 676-0643 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

and

LANCE HOLDEN Sharit, Bunn, Chilton & Holden 99 Sixth Street, S.W. P.O. Box 9498 Winter Haven, Florida 33880 Telephone: (813) 299-6699 Facsimile: (813) 293-5000 CO-COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rule 3-7.6(f) of the <u>Rules of Discipline</u> provides: "Bar Counsel. <u>Bar counsel shall make such investigation as is</u> <u>necessary and shall prepare and prosecute with utmost diligence</u> <u>anv case assigned</u>." (emphasis added) In light of the uncontroverted facts contained in the record, it is crystal clear that the Florida Bar failed to **prepare** and prosecute the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> with "utmost diligence," and that any "investigation" undertaken by the Bar in these proceedings fell woefully short of the reasonable bounds of fair play for the bringing of career threatening charges against a member of the Florida Bar who had not been the previous subject of any type of complaint to the Bar; who participated in this case and numerous other adoption cases on a <u>pro bono</u> basis; and who was never interviewed or deposed by the Florida Bar to discover the background facts or ascertain his side of the story.

This case is further aggravated by the fact that Bar counsel was specifically advised by the Bar's expert witness that the Respondent's conduct violated no disciplinary rule or legal requirement and, yet, Bar counsel failed to disclose this exculpatory evidence and, more significantly, Bar counsel misrepresented the effect of the expert's conclusions by claiming that the expert was unavailable due to a scheduling conflict.

Although Rule 3-7.6 of the <u>Rules of Discipline</u> does not affirmatively address the issue of costs awardable to the

15

prevailing respondent, the Rule is merely silent in this regard. This Court has already established the "discretionary approach" to be utilized by the Referee in arriving at an award of **costs** in disciplinary proceedings. <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, **419** So.2d 325 (Fla. 1982). Furthermore, an award of costs against the Florida Bar which was apparently not reversed or modified by this Court in <u>The Florida Bar v. Dennis</u>, Case No. 76,121 (Fla, 1991). (Appended to the Initial Brief)

Although the Bar urges this Court to disallow an award of costs in favor of a prevailing Respondent because of a "chilling effect" upon disciplinary proceedings, our system of justice has historically followed the award of **costs** -- and sometimes attorney's fees -- to the prevailing party. Examples are found in §57.014, Fla.Stat. (1991), which requires an award of costs in favor of prevailing litigants, and §§57.105 and 57.111, Fla.Stat. (1991), which provide for an award of attorney's fees in certain instances.

Here, the evidence demonstrates that the proceedings developed to the point where the Complainant was apprised of the lack of genuine issue of material fact, yet, the Respondent was forced to continue to incur casts and attorney's fees in this matter. Due to the Complainant's failure to disclose exculpatory evidence during its prosecution, and due to the Complainant's disregard of the Respondent's efforts to fully apprise the Complainant of the true issues and facts from the outset, Article I, Section 21, of the Florida Constitution certainly applies

16

through the fundamental doctrine of <u>every</u> person's right to judicial redress for <u>any</u> injury. Since these proceedings are the only forum in which the Respondent can attain relief, it **is** incumbent upon this Court to protect and uphold the rights of the injured Respondent with the same zeal that seemingly drives the Bar in its prosecutions.

111 🛛

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES GIVEN TEE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS.

IV.

ARGUMENT

ALTHOUGH THE FLORIDA BAR CONTENDS THAT THE AWARD OF COSTS IN FAVOR OF A RESPONDENT IN DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS IS NEBULOUS IN TERMS OF PREVAILING FLORIDA LAW. THIS COURT HAS FIRMLY ESTABLISHED CONTROLLING PRINCIPLES IN TEE CASE OF THE F'LORIDA BAR V. DAVIS, 419 SO.2d 325 (FLA. 1982).

FURTHERMORE, THE RESPONDENT SHOULD BE ENTITLED TO ALL COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES INCURRED IN DEFENDING THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY THE COMPLAINANT.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 419 **So.2d** 325 (Fla. 1982), this Court was faced with the question of **costs** assessed against the Respondent in proportion to the total costs incurred by the Bar. <u>Id</u>. at 327. After reciting the appropriate standard of review,² this Court then addressed the Bar's objection to Referee's failure to assess all costs against the Respondent. <u>Id</u>. In <u>Davis</u>, this Court succinctly held:

> We have set no hard or fast rules relative to the assessment of costs in disciplinary <u>proceedings</u>. In civil actions the general rule in regard to costs is that they follow the result of the suit, Section 57.041, <u>Fla.Stat. (1981), Dragstrem v. Butts</u>, 370 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), and in equity the allowance of costs rests in the discretion of the Court, <u>National Rating Bureau v.</u> <u>Florida Power Corp</u>, 94 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1956).

> We hold that the discretionary approach should be used in disciplinary actions. Generally, when there is a finding that an attorney has been found guilty of violating a provision of the Code of Professional Responsibility, the Bar should be awarded its costs. At the same time the Referee in this Court should, in assessing the amount, be able to consider the fact that an attorney has been acquitted on some charges or that the incurred costs are unreasonable, The amount of costs in these circumstances should be awarded as sound discretion dictates. Id. at 328. (emphasis added)

With this precedent found in <u>Davis</u>, the Referee in the case at **bar was** certainly in a position to adopt the discretionary approach in arriving at an award of **costs** in favor of the Respondent. Moreover, the presence of competent substantial evidence to support the Referee's findings of fact should not be disturbed on review, and the Bar's recital of the many cases where the Bar has sometimes borne some or all of the costs of the respondent serves to buttress the decision reached in this case.

²"We have reviewed the record and the Referee's Report and find that <u>there is competent substantial evidence</u> to support the Referee's finding of fact." <u>Id.</u> at 327. (emphasis added)

On the other hand, the Bar's reference to an absence of precise language favoring a respondent in Rule 3-7.6(k) only tends to obfuscate the primary considerations involved. For example, the Referee undeniably found that "slowly but surely... the Bar became aware that the Complaint against Mr. Chilton was not appropriate." (June Tr., Page 104). With the failure to disclose exculpatory evidence to the Respondent, and in view of the overall failure of the Bar to investigate as is necessary and to prepare and prosecute the case with "utmost diligence," the decision reached by the Referee patently falls within the realm of the "discretionary approach" to the award of costs.

In its Initial Brief, the Bar also focuses upon its budget for the payment of costs and the negative impact of costs awards in favor of respondents. This argument is specious for several reasons. First, there is no evidence in the record on review as to Florida Bar's budget for **costs** awards. Second, the ability of a party to pay costs has never been an influential factor for a trial court in arriving at an award of costs in an action at law. Third, the Respondent could advance the same type of argument to the effect that his budgetary constraints mitigate against having to absorb any of his own **costs** resulting from the Bar's flawed prosecution. Fourth, the travesty arising out of these proceedings should be equitably resolved through the spreading of the loss among the Bar **as** a whole, as opposed to the innocent victim who was faced with career-threatening charges arising out of a <u>pro bono</u> appearance as an intermediary.

19

Likewise, attorney's fees should be awarded to the Respondent in this instance because Rule 3-7.6(k) is merely silent in that respect. In several areas, the Florida Legislature has seen fit to allow the award of attorney's fees in favor of the prevailing party under Sections 57.105 and 57.111 of the Florida Statutes. Although these legislative directives are not binding upon Bar disciplinary proceedings, the concept is nonetheless noteworthy in rendering just results in the wake of an unsuccessful prosecution by the Bar, More important, however, Section 21 of Article 1 of the Florida Constitution provides that:

> The courts shall be open to <u>every</u> person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial, or delay, (emphasis added)

Consequently, this Court can draw upon this constitutional precept to effect redress for the injury sustained by the Respondent, and an award of attorney's fees to that end is a step in the right direction. Obviously, the emotional trauma suffered as a result of these proceedings -- for which the Bar eventually agreed were without a genuine issue of material fact -cries out for redress by the courts of this state, and the same tenets supporting an award of **costs** against the Bar are equally apposite in terms of correcting the financial hardship suffered by the Respondent herein.

The Referee explicitly found that the attorney's fees charged by Mr. Brandon to the Respondent in the amount of \$27,190.00 were fair and reasonable, and the various fees and costs affidavits filed with the Referee constitute competent **and**

20

substantial evidence necessary to such an award. Of great significance is the certification of the issue of attorney's fees to the Supreme Court for review. Without question, the Referee could have denied the Respondent's request far attorney's fees as a perfunctory matter, but the Referee voiced his reluctance to make such an award because "there seems to be no provision in the rules that govern this type of proceeding for that award." (June Tr., Pages 102, 103).

On this appeal, the Florida Bar also suggests that a Respondent should not be awarded costs "absent a showing by clear and convincing evidence the Bar engaged in misconduct associated with prosecuting the matter." (Initial Brief, Page 23). Naturally, the Respondent disagrees with this marrow and selfinsulating measure proposed by the Bar, for those reasons set forth above. Beyond that, however, the record for review does indeed contain evidence reflective of prosecutorial misconduct. In addition to the failure to disclose the exculpatory evidence, along with the misleading representation as to a scheduling conflict for the expert witness, the Florida Bar has also ignored the <u>Rules of Discipline</u> and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure by predicating its statement of case and facts and portions of its argument section of the Initial Brief on matters which are unsupported by the record. More disturbing is the Complainant's reference to an offer of admission of minor misconduct by the Respondent.³ This type of argument undeniably violates the

'See Pages 1 and 13 of the Initial Brief.

spirit of the confidentiality and inadmissibility of offers of settlement. Although the <u>Rules of Discipline</u> indicate that the disciplinary proceedings are of a quasi-judicial nature, the principles found in §§90.408 and 90.410, <u>Fla.Stat.</u> (1991) still come into play. Section **90.408** provides:

> Evidence of <u>an offer to compromise a claim</u> which was disputed as to validity or amount, as well as any relevant conduct or statements made in negotiations concerning a compromise <u>is inadmissable to provide liability or</u> <u>absence of liability</u> for the claim or its value. (emphasis added)

Section 90.410 provides:

Evidence of <u>a plea of guilty</u>, later withdrawn, a plea of nolo contendere, or <u>an offer to</u> <u>plead quilty or nolo contendere</u> to the crime charged or any other crime is <u>inadmissable in</u> <u>any civil or criminal proceeding</u>. Evidence of statements made in connection with any of the pleas or offers are inadmissable, except when such statements are offered in a prosecution under Chapter 837. (emphasis added)

Despite these axiomatic rules of law and the extremely prejudicial effect of dwelling upon an offer in settlement or an offer of plea, the Complainant still weaves this "factor" into its Initial Brief with the apparent intention of showing that such an offer undermines the finding by the Referee that the proceedings were without merit. Although the Bar qualifies its mention of the offer by matter-of-factly alluding to certain "tenders in hopes of avoiding further time-consuming litigation,"⁴ this cavalier reference further exemplifies the manner in which the Complainant

⁴This was the precise reason why the offer was made by Mr. Chilton -- to avoid emotional trauma and costs and fees in excess of \$36,000.

has compounded the injustice wrought against the Respondent.

Lastly', the Bar argues that the risk of bearing the costs incurred through an unsuccessful prosecution would disrupt the disciplinary process. This contention, however, flies in the face of Rule 3-7.6(f) which requires Bar counsel to make such investigation as is necessary and to prepare and prosecute the **case** with "utmost diligence." As long as Bar counsel adheres to these <u>Rules of Discipline</u>, then there should realistically be no disruptive effect from the risk of paying a costs award to a respondent. In actuality, it is the Respondent who has suffered an immeasurable disruption of his personal and professional life, and the Bar's apparent indifference to this outcome raises the question as to the motivating objective of the Florida Bar in bringing disciplinary proceedings.⁶

In a similar vein of assessing the burden of costs and attorney's fees, Rule 11 of the <u>Federal Rules of Civil Procedure</u> enables the trial judge to impose these costs and fees sanctions

⁵At Pages 20 and 21 of the Initial Brief, the Bar also indulges in a misinterpretation of the timing of the expert fee charged by Bennett Cohn. Even though the Referee's *Report* reflects the April 15, 1992, date for this cost (Referee's Report, Page 5), the itemized services detailed in this entry are <u>retrospective</u> in nature, and are typical of the manner in which most attorneys submit statements for services performed in arrears. The April 15, 1992, date is nothing more than the date of the expert's statement ⁻⁻ nevertheless, the Bar attempts to create the proverbial mountain out of a molehill.

^bMany other facets of our judicial system tax costs against non-prevailing parties including criminal prosecutions which are brought for the benefit of society as a whole. Hence, one must rhetorically ask the question why the Bar needs some special immunity in its prosecutions.

against litigants bringing actions which are not grounded in fact or warranted by existing law after reasonable inquiry by the party litigant. There is no reason why a similar standard cannot be imposed by this Court for **Bar** proceedings for the recovery of attorney's fees.

In summary, the precedent of this Court's ruling in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 419 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1982), unequivocally controls this case through the application of the "competent, substantial evidence test," as well as the "discretionary approach" to the award of costs by the referee in disciplinary proceedings. Therefore, the only novel issue before this Court emanates from the Respondent's request for attorney's fees incurred, which request was denied by the Referee.

For the legal and equitable parallels previously mentioned in this Answer Brief, it is respectfully submitted that Section 21 of Article I of the Florida Constitution mandates that this Court provide redress to the Respondent who, through no fault of his own, was forced to incur thousands of dollars of attorney's fees in defending a proceeding for which the Bar later represented to the Referee to be the appropriate subject of a motion for summary judgment because of a lack of a genuine issue of material fact. Although research undertaken by the Respondent fails to disclose any disciplinary case in which an award of attorney's fees was entered against the Bar and in favor of a respondent, the lamentable facts of this case forcefully suggest that there has been no disciplinary proceeding quite like this one, and it is the

24

sincere hope of the Respondent that there will never be any similar prosecution by the Bar against its members in the future. Moreover, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court will grant the Motion for Oral Argument, served on November 9, 1992, given the background of this case, and the significance of the issues involved.

CONCLUSION

v.

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